1982

Jana C. Christiansen v. Kent Christiansen : Brief of Appellant on Appeal

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE
OF THE CASE

This is a post divorce modification proceeding in which plaintiff-respondent, Jana C. Christiansen, (hereinafter, "plaintiff") brought this modification proceeding to increase defendant-appellant Kent Christiansen's (hereinafter "defendant") child support obligations to plaintiff under a Decree of Divorce, dated July 17, 1979. Plaintiff also sought an award of attorneys fees (R.27-29). Other issues raised by plaintiff's initial order to show cause were disposed of prior to the trial date herein. Defendant filed a Counter-petition seeking primarily to: 1) reduce the amount of alimony payments to \$100.00 per month; 2) set a fixed date for termination of

alimony payments; and 3) eliminate the requirement from the Decree of Divorce that the defendant be required to maintain the plaintiff on his health and medical insurance policy (R.36-38)

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The matter came on for trial on September 3, 1981, before the Honorable George E. Ballif, District Judge presiding. Following the conclusion of the trial and introduction of evidence and testimony from both parties, the Court took the matter under advisement and rendered its Decision on October 8, 1981. A copy of the Court's Decision is attached hereto as Appendix "A" and incorporated by reference.

The trial court increased the amount of the defendant's child support payments from \$275.00 per month (R.22-23) to \$450.00 per month per child for each of the parties two minor children (R.46).

The trial court also ruled that the defendant had failed to show a sufficient change in circumstances to justify the reduction or elimination of the alimony previously ordered in the Decree of Divorce. The Court also concluded that the defendant should pay \$200.00 as attorneys fees for the use and benefit of the plaintiff's counsel. (R.46) The Court did not rule on the other issues raised by the defendant's order to show cause specifically that the defendant be released from the requirement to maintain the plaintiff on his health and medical insurance policies.

The trial court overruled and denied the defendant's objections to the Findings of Fact and Modified Decree and defendant's Notice of Appeal was filed on November 25, 1981 (R.56,57).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks the following relief on appeal: (1) A reversal of the trial court's decision that the defendant failed to show a sufficient material change in circumstances to justify a reduction or elimination of the amount of alimony payments paid by the defendant to the plaintiff; or, alternatively a remand to the trial court to set an appropriate reduction in alimony payments. (2) A reversal of the trial court's decision increasing the amount of child support payments from \$275.00 per month per child to \$450.00 per month per child for each of the parties two minor children. (3) An order from this Court terminating the defendant's responsibility to maintain and pay for health and medical insurance coverage for plaintiff. (4) A reversal or alternatively a reduction of the court's award of attorneys fees.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff and defendant were married at Provo, Utah, on June 1, 1972. There were two children born as issue of the

said marriage to-wit: Alicia, who at the time of the Decree of Divorce was 3 years old; and Chad, who at the time of the Decree of Divorce was age 16 months (R.18). In July of 1979, the parties entered into a Stipulation and Property Settlement agreement (R.14-16) which formed the basis of a Decree of Divorce which was subsequently entered by the Court following a hearing on July 17, 1979. The stipulation and property settlement agreement is attached hereto, labeled Appendix "B" and incorporated by its reference herein. The lower court's Finding of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce approved the previously executed Stipulation and Property Settlement Agreement (Appendix "B") which granted the plaintiff alimony in the amount of \$650.00 per month, and child support in the amount of \$275.00 per month for each of the parties two minor children (R.22,23).

At the time of the original divorce hearing and the entry of the Decree of Divorce, the lower court specifically found that "Plaintiff has no income" see Finding of Fact number 9, (R.20), and Stipulation and Property Settlement Agreement, paragraph 9, (R.16). The minute entry entered by the court at the time of the hearing on the Decree of Divorce reflects the presence of the plaintiff and her counsel, Noall T. Wootton, and further reflects that the defendant was not present, but was represented by his counsel, Wayne B. Watson. The trial court further reflects in its minute entry of July 17, 1979, that "counsel stated for the record that plaintiff has "0"

income at this time" (R.25). A copy of the court's minute entry dated July 17, 1979 is attached hereto as Appendix "C" and incorporated by reference.

The defendant is a self-employed dentist, with a specialty in endotonics (R.78,124). At the time of the Decree of Divorce, the Court made specific findings that the defendant's net income was approximately \$30,000.00 for the calendar year 1978 (R.19). It should be noted that the Decree of Divorce was granted on July 17, 1979 at a time when defendant's income had probably increased slightly. Defendant opened a private practice in dentistry in Provo, Utah on approximately May 1, 1978, a little more than one year prior to the entry of the Decree of Divorce (R.125).

At the time of the modification hearing, defendant testified that he was drawing a base monthly salary of approximately \$3,000.00 per month from his business which is now a professional corporation (R.134). Defendant's 1980 individual income tax return demonstrated that he had an adjusted gross income of \$30,538.00 for the year 1980 (see exhibit #5). In response to an order of the court, the defendant produced his complete individual income tax returns for the years 1979 and 1980 and his corporate income tax return for the year beginning June 1, 1980, and ending March 30, 1981. While not all of those documents were marked as exhibits, they were produced following the trial pursuant to the request of

counsel for the plaintiff and are included in the court's record in the exhibit file.

At the time of the entry of the Decree of Divorce, plaintiff had no income (R.16,20,25 and 145). Plaintiff testified that she had obtained a Masters Degree in Educational Psychology and at the time of the modification hearing was making \$779.50 per month gross and approximately \$550.00 net by working three days per week as an Educational Psychologist in the Provo School District (R.80,89 See also, plaintiff's Exhibit #4).

The court further heard testimony from both the plaintiff and the defendant to the effect that full time employment may be available to the plaintiff through the Provo School District provided that her arthritic condition would permit her to accept such full time employment (R.80,141). Both plaintiff and defendant testified that the plaintiff's arthritic condition had stabilized since the time of the Decree of Divorce and that the plaintiff was able to function fairly well by taken medication that was prescribed for the arthritic condition (R.82,142): Plaintiff was presently very active and had recently taken up skiing (R. 142,143).

Both parties introduced evidence and were cross-examined concerning their monthly current expenses. Plaintiff listed monthly current expenses of \$2,197.00 which she claimed had increased approximately \$1,400.00 since the date of the entry of the Decree of Divorce (See plaintiff's exhibit #3, R.110, 112). Defendant claimed monthly current expenses of \$3,166.24 including the alimony and support payments imposed by the Decree of Divorce.

(See defendant's exhibit #6).

Both parties testified that the parties contemplated the \$16,000.00 in cash property settlement referred to in paragraph #7 of the Decree of Divorce (R.23) would be used in purchasing the condominium that plaintiff presently resides in, and further, that the condominium was purchased contemporaneously with the entry of the Decree of Divorce (R.100,145). The plaintiff's own testimony in that regard is particularly revealing:

Q: (By Mr. Snyder) Now, at the time of the Decree of Divorce, you also had made plans to purchase the condominium that you are presently living in, hadn't you?

A: (By Mrs. Christiansen) The deal wasn't finalized. I had hoped that I could.

Q: But you were going to pay \$16,000.00 in cash settlement that you received from your husband, and had already made an offer to purchase the condominium in American Fork, subject to your getting that money and closing the rest of the financial arrangements, hadn't you?

A: Yes.

Q: And you did, in fact, make that \$16,000.00 settlement and purchased the condominium that you are presently living in, isn't that true?

A: Yes, that is true.

Q: So these additional living expenses that you are pointing to, these additional house payments, totaling \$315.00 in increases, were something that you contemplated at the time of the Decree of Divorce?

A: Yes. (R.100, 101)

Plaintiff further testified with regard to her expenses that at the time of the Decree of Divorce, she was driving

a 1975 Mustang II automobile which was paid for and that since the entry of the Decree of Divorce, she had gone out and purchased a 1980 Camaro (R.102). Plaintiff further testified in accordance with her exhibit #3 that she had \$100.00 per month in medical expenses but later conceded that her husband pays for all of her bills for medication and her doctors expenses, (R.92). Furthermore, since the entry of the Decree of Divorce, she had purchased drapes and a refrigerator for the house, and had taken out a loan with a monthly payment of \$131.50 on that amount. (R.114).

In connection with the loan payment in the amount of \$131.50 for the drapes and refrigerator, plaintiff testified as follows:

Q: (By Mr. Snyder) Let me ask you just briefly about the loan payment. That was something you contemplated in connection with the purchase of your condominium, isn't that true?

A: (By Mrs. Christiansen) No.

(By Mr. Snyder) You knew--excuse me. Go ahead.

A: I guess I really didnt have any idea how much things cost at the time of the divorce. I realized we had nothing. But I had no idea as to the cost of the drapes and a fridge and just the bear necessities.

Q: But in truth and in fact, you knew that you were going to have to buy a refrigerator for that condominium, and you were going to have to put some drapes in it, and that type of thing, and you knew that in connection with the purchase of the condominium, and you contemplated doing that at the time of the Decree, isn't that true? You may not have known the price, but you knew you were going to have to get a refrigerator and drapes?

A: I knew I was going to have to get a refrigerator. Kent gave me \$16,000.00, and I paid down \$15,000.00, so I figured

the extra \$1000.00 I could use on a fridge and a few things. But I just didn't - I guess I figured that, but I didn't realize that the drapes and all those things would come to so much. Am I saying too much? (R.113,114)

It is interesting to note that the court in its decision cited the increased expense of \$250.00 per month for child care, necessitated by the plaintiff obtaining employment, but failed to consider or recognize the fact that plaintiff had increased income which would more than off-set that expense. (R.45,89. See also, exhibit #4). Plaintiff also introduced evidence concerning increased expenses necessitated by the purchase of the washer and dryer which were purchased by the plaintiff following the initiation of the order to show cause proceeding and which washer and dryer had not even been delivered to the plaintiff at the time of the trial of this matter (R.104).

Plaintiff claimed additional increases in expenses due to inflation, but the only dollar amounts presented as evidence with respect to increases in the expenses of the children were an additional \$10.00 per month charge, for pre-school costs for the parties son (R.93).

Plaintiff also claimed increased expenses attributed to the children's recreation, and the daughter's clothing, but failed to present any evidence concerning amounts (R.92,94).

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN FAILING TO GRANT THE DEFENDANT A DECREASE IN THE AMOUNT OF ALIMONY PAYMENTS BASED UPON THE PLAINTIFF'S INCREASED INCOME.

It is axiomatic that the district courts of this state are vested with considerable discretion with regard to alimony, child support and attorney's fees. On appeal, the decisions of the the district courts are accorded great deference:

In a divorce case, even though the proceedings are equitable and this court may review the evidence, this court accords considerable deference to the findings and judgment of the trial court due to its advantageous position. On appeal this court will not disturb the action of the trial court unless the evidence clearly preponderates to the contrary, or the trial court has abused its discretion, or misapplied principles of law... Fletcher v. Fletcher, 615 P.2d 1218 at 1222 (Utah 1980).

Mindful of the burden he bears on appeal, defendant requests this court to reverse the lower court's decision that a sufficient change in circumstances was not shown to justify the reduction or elimination of alimony paid by defendant to the plaintiff (R.46), upon the grounds that the lower court misunderstood and/or misapplied the law, resulting in substantial and prejudicial error, and/or perpetrated such a serious inequity as to constitute an abuse of the court's discretion. This concept was explained by the court in McCrary v. McCrary, 599 P.2d 1248, at 1250 (Utah 1979):

In these matters, a party seeking a reversal of the trial court must prove a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in substantial and prejudicial error, or that the evidence clearly preponderated against the findings or that such a serious inequity resulted from the order as to constitute an abuse of the trial court's discretion

The purpose of alimony is to "provide support for the wife as nearly as possible at the standard of living she enjoyed during the marriage, and to prevent the wife from becoming a public charge". English v. English, 565 P.2d 409 (Utah, 1977). This calls for determining "the financial conditions and needs of the wife, the ability of the wife to procure sufficient income for herself, and the ability of the husband to provide support". *Id.* at 412.

The courts have held that the factors to be considered in determining whether to modify an alimony award are the same as the factors taken into consideration when granting an award for support and alimony. See Scott v. Scott, 591 P.2d 980 (Arizona, 1979).

In Gramme v. Gramme, 597 P.2d 134 (Utah, 1978), this court stated the purpose of an award of alimony and the criteria upon which an award of alimony may be based:

The purpose of alimony is to provide post-marital support; it is intended neither as a penalty imposed upon the husband nor as a reward granted to the wife. Its function is to provide support for the wife as nearly as possible at the standard of living she enjoyed during marriage and to prevent her from becoming a public

charge. Important criteria in determining a reasonable award for support and maintenance are the financial conditions and needs of the wife, considering her station in life; her ability to produce sufficient income for herself; and the ability of the husband to provide the support.

(Emphasis is added) Id. at 147 (footnotes omitted)*

By applying the criteria as described in Gramme the plaintiff herein is no longer entitled to an award of alimony. Her present earnings are sufficient to support her at the standard of living she enjoyed during her marriage to the defendant. There is no indication that her financial situation could deteriorate to the point of making her a public charge. The lower court should have considered her young age, her ability to work and her present income with regard to the issue of reduction of alimony.

In that regard, at the time of the Decree of Divorce, the plaintiff, Jana Christiansen was unemployed. The court entered a specific findings to that regard (R.16,20,25 and 142). Since that time she has used her Masters Degree in Educational Psychology (R.80) to become gainfully employed at the Provo School District as an educational psychologist working three days a week. Both plaintiff and defendant testified that the plaintiff could obtain full time employment through the Provo School District (R.80, 141). Both plaintiff and defendant also testified that the plaintiff's arthritic

condition had stabilized with medication since the time of the entry of the Decree of Divorce. The uncontroverted evidence introduced at the time of the trial in this matter indicated that the plaintiff was earning approximately \$800.00 per month gross, and \$550.00 per month net (R.89,141, see also, plaintiff's exhibit #4).

Quite clearly, the plaintiff is now earning a substantial salary which she was not earning at the time of the entry of the Decree of Divorce and is capable of earning even more if she chooses to accept full time employment.

The trial court chose to ignore the Findings of Fact, Stipulation and Property Settlement Agreement, and the court's own minute entry from the divorce hearing setting for the fact that the plaintiff had no income at the time of the Decree of Divorce. The rationale behind the court's ruling is found in a discussion between the Court and counsel for the defendant which occurred during argument and following the conclusion of the evidence. That discussion is set forth in the transcript as follows:

(Argument by Mr. Snyder): I think the evidence demonstrates a material change in circumstances with regard to her income that justifies decreasing the amount of the alimony. I think that that's a material change.

The Findings of the Court clearly reflect--

THE COURT: If she can't go up, why should we

refuse it?

MR. SNYDER: If she can't go up where?

THE COURT: If she can't get an increase in alimony because he's earning additional money, why can't she be subject, then, to a reduction?

MR. SNYDER: That was all done, as far as the stipulation--

THE COURT: --I know. Why should she, then also be restricted and reduced?

MR. SNYDER: Because the Court made a specific finding concerning the fact that she had no income, and she now does have an income.

THE COURT: I know, but it was set at a certain amount of money.

MR. SNYDER: Yes.

THE COURT: And she could not use his increased income to go up.

MR. SNYDER: Right.

THE COURT: Nothing was said that if she increased her income, she could go down.

MR. SNYDER: No, but that, in my opinion, is a material change of circumstances which justifies the Court in reducing the amount of that alimony. She had no income at the time of the divorce. She had no income at that time, and she has income now. That's a change in circumstances which is material to the issues of alimony and the amount

that it was set at, and justifies it being decreased.

Furthermore, I think there is merit in the position that this Court ought not to let that alimony go on interminably forever. She is now employed; she is now able to earn her own way; she is not contributing to the income and the needs of the children, which she has not done before.

I think those issues mandate a change in the amount-- reducing the amount--

THE COURT: --You want the benefit of that, then, when it comes to the support of the children, the fact that she is working, in addition to the fact that that should reduce her income, and also reduce--

MR. SNYDER: --I think that the Court should definitely--

THE COURT: --Mr. Snyder, when the Court is talking don't cut in on me, will you, please.

MR. SNYDER: Excuse me.

THE COURT: Did you hear what I said?

MR. SNYDER: Yes I did.

THE COURT: All right. You may respond to it.

MR. SNYDER: I think that if the Court is not going to consider it in the question of alimony, which I think the Court should, then I think the Court should definitely consider it with regard to the matter of the child support, and her claims for needs for an increase. (R.161 line 21 through

R163 line 20).

The trial court's concerns reflect his interpretation of a portion of paragraph 9 of the Stipulation and Property Settlement, (R.16)(Appendix "B") which is incorporated into the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, paragraph 9 (R.20). The Property Settlement Agreement (Appendix "B") reads, in pertinent part

9. The parties further stipulate that they hereby request the Court to make a finding of fact that the plaintiff presently has no income, and that future increases in alimony shall be based solely upon plaintiff's economic needs without any regard whatsoever to a possible increase in defendant's income status." (Emphasis added) (R.16).

It was the trial judge's opinion that if the plaintiff cannot use the defendant's increased income to seek future increases in her alimony payments, then the defendant should not be able to use plaintiff's increased income to justify reductions in the alimony payments.

The trial court's interpretation of paragraph 9 of the Findings of Fact and the Property Settlement Agreement, clearly ignores the language contained in the first part of paragraph 9 to the effect that the plaintiff has no income and indeed, the language set forth by both parties' counsel on the record in the Minute Entry (Appendix "C") to the effect that the plaintiff has "0" income at this time. (R.25).

Utah courts have long held that increases in income constitute a material change in circumstances sufficient to

justify the increase or decrease in the amount of alimony payments. In the case of Dehm v. Dehm, 545 P.2d 525 (Utah, 1976) the husband sought to reduce or eliminate alimony payments. In Dehm, at the time the Divorce Decree was entered, the wife had income of approximately \$220.00 per month, and the husband earned \$1,300.00 per month. By the time of the modification proceedings those numbers had increased to \$946.00 and \$2,200.00 respectively. Also, during the period of time between the entry of the Decree of Divorce and the modification hearing the wife had received her Bachelors and Masters Degree and had become employed on a full time basis. The Utah Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's decision reducing the alimony from \$300.00 per month to \$1.00 per year and found that under the circumstances, alimony was neither necessary nor reasonable.

The written Decision (See Appendix "A") entered by the trial court in this matter sheds further light on the trial court's unilateral attempt to modify the provisions of the Stipulation and Property Settlement Agreement and the Findings of Fact entered by the trial court. It is clear from the language of the Stipulation and Property Settlement Agreement that the plaintiff in this case agreed as part of that Stipulation and Property Settlement that she would not seek increased alimony based upon increases in the defendant's income. The trial court apparently felt

that "What is good for the goose must be good for the gander". No such element of reciprocity can be inferred from the Stipulation or from the Findings of Fact, yet the trial judge in the modification hearing found that the plaintiff's agreement to not seek increased alimony based upon increases in the defendant's income should be applied in reverse to the defendant. In other words, he should not be able to claim decreases in alimony based upon increases in the plaintiff's income. The trial court's Decision (Appendix "A") reveals some additional information concerning the court's analysis with regard to paragraph 9 of the Findings of Fact and the Stipulation and Property Settlement Agreement. Judge Ballif in his Decision states:

"Based upon the above and foregoing findings, and upon the finding in the Decree of Divorce that only the plaintiff's economic needs, without regard to defendant's income, is the sole basis for increase in alimony and the further finding by the Court that the plaintiff's personal needs have not materially increased in that she has now obtained employment and is providing partially for her own support, the court concludes as follows:

2. The Court further concludes that a sufficient change of circumstance has not been shown to justify the reduction or elimination of the alimony paid by defendant to plaintiff and the amount provided in the original decree shall continue." (R.46).

It is axiomatic the provisions of a Stipulation and Property Settlement Agreement which are approved and incorporated into a Decree of Divorce cannot be subsequently modified or changed absent a showing of substantial injustice, fraud

or some other compelling reason. See Lay v. Lay, 162 Colo. 143, 425 P.2d 704 and Foulger v. Foulger, 626 P.2d 412 (Utah 1981).

In the instant case the trial court has attempted to impose its own judgment effectively modifying the parties' Stipulation and effectively undertaking to unilaterally modify the parties' Stipulation and Property Settlement Agreement by making a provision that is clearly applicable only to increases in alimony apply in reverse to decreases in alimony. The trial court has ignored the other findings of the court concerning plaintiff's income at the time of the entry of the Decree of Divorce and the uncontroverted evidence concerning the plaintiff's increases in income at the time of the modification hearing.

Defendant submits that alimony is not a matter of right. When the wife has the ability to earn a living, it is not the policy of the law to give her a perpetual lien on her divorced husband's future income. See Morgan v. Morgan, 369 P.2d 516 (Washington, 1962).

Utah courts have long recognized the principal that increased earning capacity of the wife, following the entry of the Decree of Divorce, constitute a material change in circumstances which is sufficient to justify the court in reducing alimony payments. See King v. King, 495 P.2d 823, (Utah, 1972). (A case similar to the instant case in that the former wife had a health condition at the time of the divorce which prevented

her from seeking and accepting gainful employment. That situation was at least partially resolved, and alimony payments were reduced from \$250.00 per month to \$100.00 per month for a period of six months and thereafter to the sum of \$50.00 per month for a period of one year, after which, alimony was to terminate entirely). See also, Carter v. Carter, 584 P.2d 904, (Utah 1978), (Carter is a case that is significant in that it was tried in the same district court and by the same trial judge as the instant case. In Carter, the court reduced the defendant wife's alimony from \$350.00 per month to \$100.00 per month on the basis that the defendant, who was not employed at the time of the entry of the Decree of Divorce, had become employed and had a monthly salary of \$636.27. The Utah State Supreme Court in Carter held that one of the important factors to be considered is that it should be the policy of the law to encourage a person receiving alimony to seek employment. Id, at 905.)

Other case citations having similar holdings have been omitted for the sake of brevity.

Defendant submits that he is entitled to have the Court consider plaintiff's increased income as bearing on the question of reducing the defendant's alimony payments herein and that the trial court abused its discretion by imposing its own interpretation of paragraph 9 of the Stipulation and Property Settlement Agreement and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law to effectively hold that if the plaintiff had could not claim future increases in alimony based upon increases in the defendant's income status, that the defendant could not base a decrease in alimony payments upon the plaintiff's income status. Such a holding by the trial court clearly controverts the expressed provisions of the parties' Stipulation, (Appendix "B"), and the findings made by the trial court at the time of the entry of the Decree of Divorce and constitutes an abuse of discretion.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN INCREASING CHILD SUPPORT PAYMENTS FROM \$275.00 PER MONTH PER CHILD TO \$450.00 PER MONTH PER CHILD FOR EACH OF THE PARTIES' TWO MINOR CHILDREN.

A. THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY CONSIDERED PLAINTIFF'S INCREASED STANDARD OF LIVING AND INFLATED EXPENSES IN ORDER TO JUSTIFY INCREASED CHILD SUPPORT PAYMENTS.

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