1982

Jana C. Christiansen v. Kent Christiansen : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE FAILS TO SUPPORT A CLAIM OF JUDICIAL ABUSE OF DISCRETION.

It must be reasserted that a court of review does not without weighty evidence of inequity overturn the considered decision of

the trial court. As this court pronounced in another divorce action, Jackson v. Jackson, 617 P.2d 338 (Utah 1980):

It is to be observed at the outset that this court is not at liberty to undertake an independent retrial of all factual issues arising in a suit in equity . . . the trial court's disposition of the matter is entitled to a certain deference, and should be disturbed only where such is necessary to prevent manifest injustice.

Again, in Jorgensen v. Jorgensen, 599 P.2d 510 (Utah 1979):

"Only where trial court action is so flagrantly unjust as to constitute an abuse of discretion should the appellate forum interpose its own judgment." With good cause, a party appealing a prior decision has a difficult burden to meet in establishing that such flagrant, manifest injustice has resulted.

Defendant's first point states that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to decrease plaintiff's alimony as a result of her increased income. While it is true that plaintiff had no income at the time of the entry of the decree of divorce, she did at that time have a contract with her present employer and began working during the month following the decree. From then to the present her salary has not increased from the original contract amount except for a 4% cost of living increment (R. 15). Her efforts to contribute the family living expenses are commendable in that each morning she must combat stiff joints and inability to maneuver that results from her arthritic condition and must still prepare herself for a workday beginning at 8:00 a.m. (R. 33, 34). Although six to twelve doses of medication daily enable her to function, the debilitating fatigue that she experiences would prevent full-time employment even if it were available to her. In fact, her testimony is that her employer has never offered her a

full-time job and is unlikely to do so given the current cutback in school funding (R. 32, 33). The stipulation in the original settlement provided that future increases in alimony "be based solely upon plaintiff's economic needs without any regard whatsoever to a possible increase in defendant's income status." (Appendix "B"--Stipulation and Property Settlement Agreement).

In order to have violated the stipulated agreement, the trial court would have had to increase the grant of alimony on the basis of the increase in defendant's income. Certainly the court did not misuse its authority by not granting any increase for any reason.

In his Point II, the defendant urges an abuse of discretion in the court's award of increased child support payments on the basis that the plaintiff's living expenses and the defendant's gross income were improperly considered.

In the first part of Section 30-3-5, the Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, provides:

(1) When a decree of divorce is made, the Court may make such orders in relation to the children, property and parties, and the maintenance of the parties and children, as may be equitable. The court shall have continuing jurisdiction to make such subsequent changes or new orders with respect to the support and maintenance of the parties, the custody of the children, and their support and maintenance or the distribution of the property as shall be reasonable and necessary . . . (Emphasis added).

In Wright v. Wright, 586 P.2d 443 at 445 (Utah 1978), the court commented on this statutory duty as follows:

Section 30-3-5 further provides that support orders may be subsequently modified whenever reasonable or necessary. Ordinarily, an award for child support will be modified when there is a material change of circumstances of the parties involved. We have previously held that such changes occur

when there is an increase in the father's ability to support his children, or where the children grow older and require additional support to properly maintain them.

In fact, both of these conditions attesting to materially-changed circumstances apply in the instant case, as the record amply evidences.

Increase in Father's Ability to Support His Children

In the course of the marriage, defendant gained expertise in his field by earning a degree in dentistry and completing subsequent study in his specialty. During his student days, defendant's income was admittedly negligible (R. 52) but, when he began his practice, about fourteen months prior to the decree of divorce, his income escalated to the extent that, despite initial outlays for offices and equipment, he was soon obliged to employ such measures as professional incorporation and pension and profit sharing planning to minimize his tax liability (R. 62). As stated in its decision, the trial court found an increase of approximately \$19,000.00 in defendant's gross earnings in the 1980-81 period (Appendix "A"--Decision). The rarity of practitioners of his specialty gives every indication that his success and prosperity will continue. In Wright, quoted above, the court expressed the logical assumption that any increase, received by the father "should be shared, at least proportionately, with his children in the form of increased support."

Increased Expenses of Support as Children Grow Older

The two children involved here were very young at the time of the divorce, and that they have since become more expensive to support and maintain is undisputed. As the defendant has shown no

disposition to deny them the benefits of such activities as lessons in swimming, dance and gymnastics, it is difficult to comprehend his labeling as "discretionary" family expenditures for a refrigerator, a clothes washer, a dryer and dependable means of transportation.

Child care expenses are essential if plaintiff is to continue her employment. However, as school systems continue to operate with tighter budgets, plaintiff has but poor prospects of salary increases that will compensate for growing expenses related to the children's advancing ages, school attendance, and activities.

Not only is judicial consideration of such factors as plaintiff's living expenses and defendant's gross income not an abuse of discretion, but these very factors have been held to show a material change of circumstances necessary to an award of increased child support.

The court in Mitchell v. Mitchell, 527 P.2d 1359 at 1360 (Utah 1974) spoke of a "presumption of validity" accorded the trial court in a divorce action with the same authority being conferred upon the trial court to make subsequent changes with respect to support and maintenance and summarized its deliberations as follows:

The trial court found that since the time of entry of the original decree, defendant's earnings had increased from a base salary of \$13,196.00 per year plus bonus to a base salary of \$19,155.00 per year; that the cost of living had increased considerably; and that plaintiff's living expenses for herself and her children had increased to an amount in excess of \$800.00 per month. The trial court concluded that there had been a substantial change of circumstances with a substantial increase in the cost of living, which justified an increment in the award.

The Court affirmed and awarded costs to plaintiff.

Plaintiff's third point regarding maintenance of health and medical insurance is a self-confessed moot point. Plaintiff's attorney reminded the defendant that plaintiff had never filed a claim on the only policy that defendant carried that provided medical coverage:

Q (By Mr. Young): Now, that insurance policy really didn't cover her legally anyway; did it? You weren't allowed to claim her after your divorce; were you? She had to be a dependent?

A (By Mr. Christensen): In terms of the policy, it was for a spouse and so actually it was a moot point because, since there was a \$1,000.00 deductible, she got up to like hundreds and hundreds of dollars but we never crossed over there so it never had to be filed but the policy was intact.

(R. 75-76).

Finally, with regard to Point IV, there is no basis in the record to characterize the award of modest attorney's fees to plaintiff in the sum of \$200.00 as an abuse of discretion.

CONCLUSION

In review, defendant has claimed that the trial court abused its discretion by its resolution of the issues and has set forth five points, detailing each of the errors claimed. These may be summarized as follows: First, the continuation of plaintiff's alimony was an abuse of discretion in view of her employment; second, the award of additional child support was an abuse of discretion in that consideration was given to plaintiff's increased living expenses and to defendant's present gross income as compared with his past net earnings; third, failure to eliminate a requirement of medical insurance coverage of plaintiff was an abuse of discretion; and, finally, award of attorney's fees to plaintiff was an abuse of discretion.

No abuse of discretion was committed by continuing plaintiff's original alimony, although she had added to her responsibilities as custodial parent by working three days a week as a school counselor. Plaintiff did not seek any increase in alimony and the trial court did not award an increase; therefore, the divorce stipulation regarding future increases is not at issue.

The trial court properly considered plaintiff's augmented living expenses and defendant's increased ability to support his children in ruling that child support contributed by defendant should be increased from \$275.00 per month per child to \$450.00 per month per child. The court took care to explain the necessity of examining defendant's gross income since "(h)is present mode of doing business through a personal corporation and payment of a salary is not indicative of the real earnings of the defendant." (Appendix "A"--Decision).